IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No.

Lower Tribunal Case No.: 3D01-2081

COWAN LIEBOWITZ & LATMAN, P.C., STEPHEN M. ROSENBERG, FRANZINO & ROSENBERG, P.C., JAMES J. D'ESPOSITO, MARSHALL PLATT, MARSHALL DOUGLAS PLATT, P.A., JACK B. PACKAR, P.A. and PACKAR AND PLATT,

Petitioners,

v.

IN RE: Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors of MEDICAL RESEARCH INDUSTRIES, INC., Assignor TO: DONALD KAPLAN, Assignee,

DONALD KAPLAN, ASSIGNEE FOR THE BENEFIT OF CREDITORS OF MEDICAL RESEARCH INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondents,

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON JURISDICTION

INTRODUCTION AND JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This jurisdictional brief seeks discretionary review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal, rendered December 11, 2002, pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Fla.R.App.P., on grounds that the decision (i) expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency, Inc., 701 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1997), and KPMG Peat Marwick v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co., 765 So.2d 36 (Fla. 2000), by recognizing for the first time in Florida an exception to the rule against the nonassignability of legal malpractice claims and (ii) expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's decisions in Angel, Cohen & Rogovin v. Oberon Investments, N.V., 512 So.2d 192 (Fla. 1987), and Espinosa v. Sparber, Shevin, Shapo, Rosen & Heilbronner, 612 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 1993), by expanding an attorney's liability for negligence beyond clients with whom the attorney shares privity of contract. For the reasons discussed below, the Court should grant discretionary jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal of an Order dismissing with prejudice an action for legal malpractice against the former attorneys for Medical Research Industries, Inc. ("MRI") brought <u>not</u> by MRI, but by Donald Kaplan ("Kaplan") as the assignee of MRI, pursuant to §727.104, Fla. Stat.

1

In the Complaint, Kaplan alleged that MRI issued certain private placement memoranda to sell shares in the company, that the shares should have been, but were not, registered with the SEC, and that the private placement memoranda were false and misleading in that they did not accurately disclose the intended use of the funds raised through the sale of the shares. Appendix, slip op. at 2. Based on these allegations, Kaplan purported to assert claims against the Attorneys for negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, indemnity and negligent supervision.

The trial court dismissed the claims asserted by Kaplan on two grounds. First, relying on <u>Forgione</u>, and <u>KPMG</u>, the trial court held that the claims that Kaplan purported to assert in his capacity as the assignee of MRI were not assignable as a matter of law. Second, the trial court held that the claims were expressly excepted from assignment under §727.104, Fla. Stat., the statute upon which Kaplan purported to base his standing to sue. Appendix, slip op. at 2-3.

Following the trial court's dismissal of the claims asserted by Kaplan, <u>MRI</u> sued the Attorneys in its own name, asserting the same claims that had previously been asserted by Kaplan. <u>See Medical Research Industries, Inc. v.</u> <u>Cowan Liebowitz & Latman, P.C., et al.</u>, Case No. 01-011323 CACE 14, pending in the Circuit Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida. The MRI action against the Attorneys remains pending. In an opinion filed October 23, 2002, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the June 26, 2001 Order of the trial court dismissing Kaplan's claims. The court acknowledged the holding of <u>Forgione</u>, in which this Court "recognize[d] the general prohibition in Florida of the ordinary assignment of legal malpractice claims," Appendix, slip op. at 3, but then held that this Court had "modified" the holding of <u>Forgione</u> in <u>KPMG</u>. <u>Id</u>. The Third District described the holding in KPMG in this way:

The <u>KPMG</u> court concluded that the public policies discussed in <u>Forgione</u> (requiring attorney malpractice claims to be non-transferable as personal torts) do not apply where the claims involve reliance on the allegedly confidential information by interests other than the entity for whom the information was prepared. <u>KPMG</u> at 38-39. The <u>KPMG</u> court determined that where an entity "assumes a <u>public</u> responsibility transcending any employment relationship with the client . . . that entity "owes ultimate allegiance to the corporation's creditors and stockholders, as well as to investing public." <u>KPMG</u> at 38.

Appendix, slip op. at 3-4.

The court then analogized the role of the auditors in <u>KPMG</u> to the role of the Attorneys here: "Because the legal services at issue here [were] not personal but involved the publication of corporate information to third parties, i.e., the investors, the policies underlying the prohibition of bare assignment of legal malpractice claims [were] inapplicable under these circumstances." Appendix, slip op. at 5. The court therefore concluded that Kaplan "ha[d] standing to bring the claims for malpractice against the Attorneys." <u>Id.</u>

A timely motion for rehearing or, in the alternative, for certification was denied by the Third District on December 11, 2002. <u>See</u> Appendix. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has repeatedly and in multiple contexts recognized the unique and personal character of the attorney-client relationship. Thus, in <u>Forgione</u> and <u>KMPG</u>, this Court expressly recognized that the unique quality of legal services, the personal nature of the attorney's duty to the client and the confidentiality of the attorney-client relationship all militated against allowing the assignment of legal malpractice claims. For much the same reasons, this Court has consistently limited attorneys' liability in negligence to clients with whom they share privity of contract. <u>See Espinosa; Angel</u>. Moreover, the decisions of the district courts of appeal, prior to the decision of the Third District in this case, have been uniformly in accord.

The decision of the Third District is in express and direct conflict with this uninterrupted line of Florida law in two fundamental respects. First, the court held that a legal malpractice claim was assignable to an assignee for the benefit of creditors pursuant to §727.104, Fla. Stat., notwithstanding the bright line rule of nonassignability recognized by this Court in <u>Forgione</u> and <u>KPMG</u>. Second, the court held that an assignee for the benefit of creditors, who was not in privity with the attorneys for the assignor-corporation, could sue the corporation's former attorneys for legal malpractice, notwithstanding the privity requirement recognized by this Court in <u>Angel</u> and <u>Espinosa</u>.

ARGUMENT

I. The Decision of the Third District is in Express and Direct Conflict With This Court's Decisions in KPMG and Forgione.

In <u>KPMG</u> and <u>Forgione</u>, this Court clearly stated that legal malpractice claims are not assignable in Florida. In <u>Forgione</u>, the Court contrasted negligence claims against attorneys (which are not assignable) with claims against insurance agents (which are). Similarly, in <u>KPMG</u>, the Court contrasted the attorney-client relationship with the auditor-client relationship and concluded that negligence claims against auditors, <u>unlike</u> attorneys, were assignable. Describing its earlier holding in <u>Forgione</u>, the <u>KPMG</u> Court stated:

This Court noted that legal malpractice claims are not assignable because of the personal nature of legal services which involve a confidential, fiduciary relationship of the very highest character, with an undivided duty of loyalty owed to the client. *Id.* at 559.

<u>KPMG</u>, 765 So.2d at 38.

In its decision, the Third District acknowledged this Court's clear statement in <u>Forgione</u> that legal malpractice claims are not assignable in Florida. However, the court then went on, incorrectly, to state that <u>KPMG</u> "modified" <u>Forgione</u>. See Appendix, slip op. at 3. In fact, <u>KPMG</u> did not in any way modify the general rule against the assignability of <u>legal</u> malpractice claims set forth in <u>Forgione</u>. To the contrary, <u>KPMG</u> expressly distinguished the role served by attorneys from the role served by auditors. Thus, in <u>KPMG</u>, this Court stated:

<u>Unlike an attorney</u> who is required to zealously represent a client's position in an adversarial setting, <u>an</u> <u>independent auditor</u> who is hired to give an opinion on a client's financial statements must do so with an independent impartiality which contemplates reliance upon the audit by interests other than the entity upon which the audit is performed.

<u>KPMG</u>, 765 So.2d at 38 (emphasis added). Claims against auditors could be assigned, the Court held, precisely because the auditor-client relationship (like the insurance agent-client relationship addressed in <u>Forgione</u>) did <u>not</u> approximate the close personal, fiduciary relationship between attorney and client.

In the case at bar, MRI purportedly¹ assigned its putative legal malpractice claims against the Attorneys to Kaplan (pursuant to § 727.104, Fla.

¹ The Attorneys also argued, and the trial court agreed, that the legal malpractice claim asserted by Kaplan had never been assigned by MRI under the terms of §727.104, Fla.Stat., because claims "exempt by law from levy or sale under an execution" are expressly excepted from assignment by the statute. Appendix, slip

Stat.), who then filed suit against the Attorneys based on the assignment. Appendix, slip op. at 2. The Third District then re-characterized Kaplan as a "transferee," <u>id.</u> at 3, and held that Kaplan could assert the assigned legal malpractice claims.

The decision of the Third District is utterly at odds with this Court's analysis. In Forgione and KPMG, this Court recognized and reiterated a bright line rule of nonassignability for legal malpractice claims premised on what the Court considered to be the unique attributes of the attorney-client relationship. In express and direct conflict with these decisions, the Third District created a first-ever exception to this rule premised on its (precisely contrary) view that the attorney-client relationship was comparable to the auditor-client relationship.

II. The Decision of the Third District Directly and Expressly Conflicts With This Court's Decisions in <u>Angel</u> and Espinosa and Decisions of the Fourth District.

In <u>Angel</u> and <u>Espinosa</u>, this Court clearly held that attorneys' liability for negligence in the performance of their professional duties is limited to "clients with whom they share privity of contract." <u>Angel</u>; 512 So.2d at 194; <u>accord</u> <u>Espinosa</u>, 612 So.2d at 1379. The only instance in which the strict rule of privity

7

op. at 3; <u>see</u> § 727.104, Fla. Stat.; <u>Craft v. Craft</u>, 757 So.2d 571 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); <u>Mickler v. Aaron</u>, 490 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

has been relaxed is where the plaintiff has been shown to be an intended thirdparty beneficiary of the contract. <u>Angel</u>, 512 So.2d at 194; <u>Espinosa</u>, 612 So.2d at 1380.

The strict rule of privity, which applies to attorneys, stands in contrast to the rule applied to auditors by this Court in <u>First Florida Bank, N.A. v. Max</u> <u>Mitchell & Co.</u>, 558 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1990). In <u>Max Mitchell</u>, the Court held that "[b]ecause of the heavy reliance upon audited financial statements in the contemporary financial world, . . . permitting recovery only from those [auditors] in privity or near privity [with clients] is unduly restrictive." 558 So.2d at 15. In <u>Espinosa</u>, in contrast, the Florida Supreme Court expressly refused to expand an attorney's liability for negligence beyond "clients with whom the attorney shares privity of contract." 612 So.2d at 1379.

This distinction is critical. As this Court recognized in both <u>KPMG</u> and <u>Forgione</u>, "legal malpractice claims are not assignable because of the personal nature of legal services which involve a confidential, fiduciary relationship of the very highest character." <u>KPMG</u>, 765 So.2d at 38; <u>Forgione</u>, 701 So.2d at 559. Audit services, in contrast, are not "personal" in nature: the auditor is expected to be independent and to render an opinion on his client's financial statements on which others will rely; the attorney is expected to give confidential legal advice to

his client alone. That is why <u>both</u> the rule of privity and the rule of nonassignability apply to attorneys, but not to auditors.

The decision of the Third District, in effect, expands the strict rule of privity that this Court has repeatedly held governs the scope of attorney liability, by allowing Kaplan, who is not in privity with the Attorneys, to assert negligence claims against them. Notably, the court cited no authority for this unprecedented expansion of attorney liability. Rather, the Third District incorrectly relied upon language in this Court's decision in <u>KPMG</u> describing the role served by <u>auditors</u>, not by attorneys, to whom the strict rule of privity does not apply precisely because of the very different role that auditors play. <u>See</u> Appendix, slip op. at 3-4. The decision of the Third District is thus in express and direct conflict with <u>Angel</u> and <u>Espinosa</u> because it applies the less restrictive rule of liability applicable to auditors to attorneys to whom the strict rule of privity applies.

For much the same reason, the decision of the Third District is in express and direct conflict with decisions of the Fourth District which, consistent with <u>Angel</u> and <u>Espinosa</u>, hold that an attorney for a corporation is in privity with – and thus owes a duty of care solely to – the corporation and not, as the Third District effectively held below, to the corporation's creditors and shareholders. <u>See Silver Dunes Condominium of Destin, Inc. v. Beggs and Lane</u>, 763 So.2d 1274, 1276-77 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) ("we hold that where an attorney represents a closely

held corporation, the attorney is not in privity with and therefore owes no separate duty of diligence and care to an individual shareholder"); <u>Brennan v. Ruffner</u>, 640 So.2d 143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (same).²

CONCLUSION

By improperly analogizing the role served by attorneys to the role served by auditors, the Third District has, in express and direct conflict with this Court's decisions in <u>Forgione</u> and <u>KPMG</u> (regarding assignability) and <u>Angel</u> and <u>Espinosa</u> (regarding privity), expanded the scope of attorney liability in Florida. The Court should accept discretionary review to resolve this important conflict.