SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 03-59 THIRD DISTRICT CASE NO. 3D01-3081 L.T. CASE NO. 99-26596 CA(04) SUPPLEMENTAL PROCEEDING CASE NO. 01-1431 CA04

IN RE: Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors of MEDICAL RESEARCH INDUSTRIES, INC., Assignor TO: DONALD KAPLAN, Assignee,

COWAN LIEBOWITZ & LATMAN, P.C., STEPHEN M. ROSENBERG, FRANZINO & ROSENBERG, P.C., JAMES J. D'ESPOSITO, MARSHALL PLATT, MARSHALL DOUGLAS PLATT, P.A., JACK B. PACKAR, P.A. and PACKAR AND PLATT, Appellees/Petitioners,

v.

DONALD KAPLAN, ASSIGNEE FOR THE BENEFIT OF CREDITORS OF MEDICAL RESEARCH INDUSTRIES, INC., Appellant/Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Without reiterating the Petitioners' Statement of the Case and Facts, Respondents submit that it is appropriate to focus on the issue presented below and the essential holding of the Third District's Opinion. The issue, as stated by the court, was:

The issue before us is whether an assignee (actually transferee) acting as a fiduciary for a corporation has standing to bring a legal malpractice action on behalf of the now-defunct corporation.

The resolution of this issue, as stated by the court, was:

Kaplan, as assignee for benefit of creditors, has the legal charge of gathering and liquidating the assets of the corporation. In that regard Kaplan is no different from a trustee in bankruptcy who has full standing to bring a debtor's legal malpractice claim. Because the legal services at issue here are not personal in nature but involved the publication of corporate information to third parties, i.e., the investors, the policies underlying the prohibition of bare assignment of legal malpractice claims are inapplicable under these circumstances. Kaplan has standing to bring the claims for malpractice against the Attorneys.

For the same reasons as set forth above, we further hold that the trial court incorrectly determined that such claims are exempt by law from levy and sale under an execution of assignment, pursuant to section 727.104, Florida Statutes (2000), the Assignment for Benefit of Creditors statute.

Opinion at 5. It is this holding that confers standing on the Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors and it is this holding that the Petitioners erroneously contend is in conflict with other decisions of this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should deny review because no conflict exists to justify this Court's exercise of conflict jurisdiction.

The Opinion does not announce a rule of law that is contrary to another district court decision or to this Court's decisions, or otherwise make a different determination of law on the same or similar facts.

KPMG and *Forgione* are an accountant malpractice and an insurer liability case, respectively, that merely compare prior legal malpractice holdings to the facts in each of those cases. They do not expand those legal malpractice holdings to apply to the unique statutory relationship of an Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors to the estate under his care and do not conflict with the decision below.

The other cases that the Attorneys discuss are all cases that involve incidental third party beneficiaries who lack privity with the lawyers they are seeking to sue. In those cases the plaintiffs had interests that were disparate from the

person or entity to whom the lawyers owed their foremost duty. In the instant case, Kaplan's interest is one and the same with that of MRI -- he stands in its shoes. There is no conflict. This Court should deny review.

ARGUMENT

I. THE OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH FORGIONE OR KPMG

The Third District's Opinion does not conflict with any decision of this Court or another district court. This Court has previously refused "to exercise its discretion where the opinion below establishes no point of law contrary to a decision of this Court or another district court." The Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So. 2d 286, 289 (Fla. 1988). Contrary to the Attorneys' contention, the Opinion does not conflict with either Forgione v. Dennis Pirtle Agency, Inc., 701 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1997) or KPMG Peat Marwick v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co., 765 So. 2d 36 (Fla. 2000). The Attorneys urge that Forgione constitutes a "bright-line" absolute "rule of nonassignability for legal malpractice claims" and that the Opinion, by permitting the Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors to proceed with this action violates that absolute rule. Brief of Petitioners on Jurisdiction at 7. Nevertheless, Forgione, which was not a legal malpractice case but rather an insurance coverage case, does not cite a single case that recognizes a "bright-line" absolute prohibition of the assignment of legal malpractice claims in every and any instance including instances such as bankruptcy and assignments for the benefit of creditors when the "assignment" is actually a transfer by operation of law, as the District

Court found. In addition, there is no holding, either in *Forgione* or in any other Florida case that considers the right of an assignee for the benefit of creditors to pursue a legal malpractice claim. As the District Court recognized, the rights of the assignee for the benefit of creditors derive from statute -- Florida Statutes, Section 727.101 et seq. -- and are comprehensive. The assignee for the benefit of creditors is a fiduciary and attorney-in-fact for the debtor. Id. § 727.104. An ordinary assignee has no such relationship with his assignor. The assignee for the benefit of creditors is statutorily obligated to bring actions as necessary on behalf of the estate. Id. §§ 727.108, 727.110. An arm's length assignee has no such obligation. Therefore, the situation at bar is distinguishable from the cases that Florida courts have considered in the past. Furthermore, bankruptcy trustees, receivers, and personal representatives do have standing to bring legal malpractice actions on behalf of the estates they represent and existing case law refutes the overstated application that the Attorneys would accord it. Finally, the Third District reconciles its holding with Forgione and its opinion does not "expressly and directly" conflict with that decision. To the contrary, it states that Forgione "recognizes the general prohibition in Florida of the ordinary assignment of legal malpractice claims because of the highly personal nature of legal representation and confidentiality." Opinion at 3 (emphasis added). The Opinion

correctly recognizes, however, that the instant case involves "an assignee (*actually transferee*) acting as a fiduciary for a corporation" who "has the legal charge of gathering and liquidating the assets of the corporation." Opinion at 3, 5 (emphasis added). The cases are not conflicting; they are expressly and directly harmonized.

Similarly, the Opinion does not conflict with KPMG, an accounting malpractice action. Although the Court, similar to Forgione, employed legal malpractice situations as a means of comparing and contrasting the nature of the accountant's obligations before it, that decision does not mandate the dismissal of the claim herein. The Third District did not and should not have interpreted KPMG to render an exhaustive unconditional prohibition on receivers, trustees, statutory assignees for the benefit of creditors, or personal representatives from pursuing legal malpractice claims. Rather, KPMG contrasted the role of an attorney "who is required to zealously represent a client's position in an adversarial setting" id. at 38 (emphasis added), to the "public watchdog" function of an accountant that creates a "public responsibility transcending any employment relationship with the client." Id. Although the Third District opinion recognizes that the Attorneys, when writing the private placement memoranda, owed their "ultimate allegiance to the corporation's creditors and stockholders, as well as to investing public," Opinion at 3-4, quoting KPMG at 38 -- a duty

that is well recognized in securities actions -- even that aspect of the Opinion is secondary to the conclusion that Kaplan, in his capacity as the statutory assignee for the benefit of creditors stands in the shoes of the client, MRI. The Third District recognized Kaplan's standing as "no different from a trustee in bankruptcy," Opinion at 5, and flows directly from his statutory charge. Any other conclusion would lead to an absurd and unworkable application of the statute and the District Court's decision correctly interprets existing law to facilitate the statutory intent.

II. THE OPINION DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OR WITH THIS COURT ON THE PRIVITY ISSUE

The issue that was before the Third District was whether an assignee for the benefit of creditors has standing to bring a legal malpractice claim. In their Brief on Jurisdiction, the Attorneys cite a number of additional cases, all of which discuss whether and when an attorney owes a duty to third parties with whom he is *not* in privity. *See Silver Dunes Condominium of Destin, Inc. v. Beggs and Lane*, 763 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); *Brennan v. Ruffner*, 640 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); *Angel, Cohen & Rogouin v. Obrein Investments, N.V.*, 512 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 1987). In the circumstances before this Court, however, there is no such disparity between client and shareholder that

is at issue. The Attorneys' breaches of their duties harmed the corporation and Kaplan, by virtue of the statute, stands in the shoes of that corporation. See Florida Statutes, Section 727.104(1)(b) in which the Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors is charged with the duty to demand, recover, and if necessary retain counsel to sue the recovery of all corporate assets. Cf. Camp v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 616 So. 2d 12, 15 (Fla. 1993) (allowing a bankruptcy trustee to pursue a bad faith claim against the debtor's insurer since the "bankruptcy estate stood in the shoes of the debtor"). There is no conflict with those cases because in this case the Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors is in privity with the Attorneys. As the Third District correctly recognized, he is a statutory transferee acting as a fiduciary for MRI for the purposes of marshaling assets, paying claims, and liquidating the estate. He steps into the shoes of MRI for these purposes. He is not a stranger to the relationship between MRI and its Attorneys; he is simply the person charged by statute to act for MRI. "In that regard Kaplan is no different from a trustee in bankruptcy who has full standing to bring a debtor's legal malpractice claim." This statutorily created legal role of the Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors is more than sufficient to confer standing.

Espinosa v. Sparber, Shevin, Shapo, Rosen and Heilbronner, 612 So. 2d 1378 (Fla. 1993) recognizes that a probate estate of a decedent "stands in the shoes of the testator and clearly satisfies the privity requirement," id. at 1380,¹ and confirms that a statutorily appointed representative of a client standing in the shoes of the client is entitled to maintain a professional liability action against the Attorneys because the privity between attorney and client is not lost under those circumstances. The relationship of the decedent's estate to the decedent is analogous to the relationship of the assignee for the benefit of creditors to MRI. Kaplan's rights to pursue this action derive not through a third party beneficiary analysis, but through the clear legal position he occupies in the shoes of MRI.

Although the Attorneys recognize that *First Florida Bank*, *N.A. v. Max Mitchell & Co.*, 558 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1990) finds it reasonable to hold accountants liable to the public and to shareholders "[b]ecause of the heavy reliance upon audited financial statements in the contemporary financial world," Attorneys' Brief on Jurisdiction at 8, quoting *Max Mitchell*, 558 So. 2d at 15, they simultaneously suggest that when they prepare private placement memoranda similar reasoning should not apply. In *Max Mitchell*, this Court adopted the rationale of section 552, *Restatement (Second)*

It also recognizes that a plaintiff who is an intended third-party beneficiary to an attorney-client relationship also has the right to bring a legal malpractice action.

of Torts (1976), which sensibly extends a defendant's liability responsibility to those whom the defendant intends to benefit or knows will benefit from or will reply upon his disclosures. The opinion below establishes that the Attorneys here undertook a representation for purposes of preparing and disseminating information to a limited class of foreseeable persons. Those services resulted in harm to the corporation. Although the reasoning of Section 552 would support an expansion of their legal obligations to reasonably foreseeable users of the information, no such extension is necessary here. Rather, the decision is premised on the statutory relationship between the corporation and Kaplan, which is more than sufficient to confirm standing.

The cases that the Attorneys cite as being in conflict do not deal with the situation the Third District correctly resolved, the power and authority of Kaplan, as a legal transferee of MRI's rights and obligations, to sue MRI's counsel for the alleged acts of malpractice that resulted in the outstanding claims against the corporation in the initial instance. Although the Petition asserts that the Third District Opinion conflicts with Florida law, it actually questions the nature of the statutory relationship of the Assignee for the Benefit of Creditors to the corporation whose assets and claims he is charged with administering. The Third District correctly decided that question contrary to the presumption that the

Attorneys seek to interject in a manner that is consistent with, not in conflict with, existing law. No further review is required.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Kaplan respectfully requests that this Court deny the Petition on Jurisdiction.